
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

June 2, 2015 9:00 am 
 

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jan J. Moore 
 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilman Phil Boyum 
  

3. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 
 

4. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 05-19-2015 Council Minutes 
b) 05-19-2015 Executive Session Minutes 
 

5. Presentation regarding Guaranteed Maximum Pricing and cost allocations for the 
Fabrication Laboratory, Business Innovation Center, Arts Incubator, and Smith Alley.  
Presentation to be given by GSU Project Manager Carrie Thorne and City of Statesboro 
Project Manager Mandi Cody. 
 

6. Consideration of a motion in accordance with the Memorandum of Understanding 
between Georgia Southern University, the Georgia Southern University Research and 
Service Foundation, Inc. and the City of Statesboro regarding the GSU E Zone and 
Innovation Incubator to approve final design plans and guaranteed maximum pricing 
allocations for the Fabrication Laboratory, Business Innovation Center, Arts Incubator, 
and Smith Alley as presented by staff. 
 

7. Consideration of a motion to authorize the issuance of a building permit for city owned 
buildings zoned Central Business District at 58 and 62 East Main Street and Smith Alley 
for improvements shown in the staff presentation upon a submittal of construction 
documents demonstrating compliance with all state and local development regulations. 
 

8. Consideration of motion to authorize the Mayor to enter into an Intergovernmental Rental 
Agreement with the Board of Regents of the University System of Georgia by and on 
behalf of Georgia Southern University for City owned property commonly known as 58 
East Main Street for the property's use by Georgia Southern University as the City of 
Statesboro / Georgia Southern University Fabrication Laboratory and Business 
Innovation Center.   
 

9. Consideration of a motion to authorize the Mayor to enter into an Intergovernmental 
Rental Agreement with the Board of Regents of the University System of Georgia by and 
on behalf of Georgia Southern University for the City owned property commonly known 
as 62 East Main Street for the property's use by Georgia Southern University as the City 
of Statesboro / Georgia Southern University Fabrication Laboratory and Business 
Innovation Center.    



 
 

 
10. Consideration of motion to approve Resolution 2015-14:  A Resolution authorizing the 

City of Statesboro to make application to the United States Department of Economic 
Development Administration for an additional $200,000 in funding for the City of 
Statesboro / Georgia Southern University Fabrication Laboratory and Business 
Innovation Center. (Council's motion to include an approval of match dollars that may be 
committed in this application).   
 

11. Consideration of a motion to approve a Resolution 2015-13: A Resolution  authorizing 
the City of Statesboro to make application to the FY 2016 Tourism Product Development 
Grant in the amount of $15,000 on behalf of the Averitt Art Center for utilization in the 
Arts Incubator portion of the City of Statesboro / Georgia Southern University 
Fabrication Laboratory and Business Innovation Center.    
 

12. Consideration of a motion to approve Memorandum of Understanding between the 
Averitt Center for the Arts and the City of Statesboro regarding the FY 2016 Tourism 
Product Development Agreement from the Georgia Department of Economic 
Development Tourism Division and the Georgia Council for the Arts.    
 

13. Administrative Hearing  for alleged alcohol violation  as pursuant to Chapter 6 of the 
City of Statesboro Alcohol Ordinance: 
A) Enforcement from the Statesboro Police Department: 
                                                       Offense in 12 month period          Citation Date 
 
a)  Robert Dannacher                            1st offense                               April 16, 2015 
     Big K-Mart 
     715 Northside Drive East 
 
b)   Gopiben A Patel                              1st offense                           April 16, 2015 
      Zip N Go #10  
      1803 Chandler Road 
 
c)   Ramiro Melendez                            1st offense                       February 21, 2015 
     El Jalapeno's 
     711 South Main Street 
 

14. Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2015-15: A Resolution authorizing the 
City of Statesboro to make application for TIGER Discretionary Grant Fund from the 
United States Department of Transportation. (Council's motion to include an approved 
amount for funding application as well as an approval of match dollars that may be 
committed in this application). 
 

15. Consideration of a motion to extend the contract with Southeastern Civil to include 
additional paving and traffic calming measures on Gordon Street and Thomas Street in 
order to maximize the full funding of the 2013 Community Development Block Grant. 
 



 
 

16. First Reading and Public Hearing of proposed Ordinance 2015-06: An Ordinance 
requiring temporary vendor permits in the City of Statesboro.    
 

17. First Reading and Public Hearing of proposed Ordinance 2015-07: An Ordinance to 
amend the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance to include Article XXX- Design Standards for 
the Downtown Statesboro Incentive District. 
 

18. Consideration of a Motion to award a contract for the installation of automatic meters and 
meter reader (AMR) transmitters to Utility and Water Services in an amount not to 
exceed $598,727.50. This project is comprised of CIP #WWD-112 & # NG-60 and will                           
be funded by SPLOST 2007 (Water Sewer) and SPLOST 2013 (Nat. Gas).  

 
19. Consideration of a Motion to award a "Sole Source Purchase" for 620 Sensus water 

meters to HD Supply Waterworks, LTD. in the amount of $61,380.00. This is part of CIP 
Project #112 - Upgrade Meters to Flex Net and will be funded by 2007 SPLOST 
proceeds. 
 

20. Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2015-16: A Resolution appointing 
William Wright to the Tree Board of the City of Statesboro. 
 

21. Consideration of a motion to approve the extension of the Fiber Conduit project with 
Gregory Electric from Hill Street to Public Works not to exceed the amount of 
$62,324.81. 

 
22. Other Business from City Council 

 
23. City Managers Comments 

City Clerks Dept. (Notice of alcohol application) 
a) Eckerd is applying for a change in alcohol license holder pending the background 

investigation.  The name is Jessica Lumpkin. 
 

b) R J Steakery is applying for an alcohol license pending the background investigation.  
The name is Randy Nessmith. 

 
24. Public Comments (General) 

 
25. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters”   

and  “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A.§50-14-3 (2012) 
 

26. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
Council Minutes 

May 19, 2015 

 
A regular meeting of the Statesboro City Council was held on May 19th, 2015 at 5:30 p.m. in the 
Council Chambers at City Hall. Present were Mayor Jan J. Moore, Council Members: Will Britt, 
Phil Boyum, John Riggs, Gary Lewis and Travis Chance.  Also present were Interim City 
Manager Robert Cheshire, City Clerk Sue Starling, City Attorney Alvin Leaphart, Assistant City 
Engineer Jason Boyles and Director of Planning and Development Mandi Cody.    
The meeting was called to order by Mayor Jan J. Moore 

 
The Invocation was given by Allen Muldrew and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilman Will Britt 
 
Recognitions/Public Presentations: 

A)  Proclamation presented to the City of Statesboro Public Works divisions 
recognizing the week of May 17-23, 2015 as "Public Works Week". 

 
 
Assistant City Engineer Jason Boyles recognized the five divisions of the Public Works Services 
including, Parks, Streets, Sanitation, Fleet Maintenance and Solid Waste.  
 
Mayor Moore read and presented the proclamation to Assistant City Engineer Jason Boyles. 
 
Public Comments (Agenda Item): 
 
Tracy Hart, owner of A&P Wrecker Services, voiced his opinion on non-consensual towing fees. 
He stated that he was in contact with the Police Department and presented Council with a list of 
towing fees that he had put together for their consideration. He also stated the proposed fee 
schedule would show a set fee for all towing. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

A) Approval of Minutes 
a) 05-05-2014 Council Minutes 
b) 05-05-2015 Executive Session Minutes 

 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Lewis to approve the consent 
agenda as written. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance vote in favor of the 
motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Second Reading and Consideration of a Motion to approve Ordinance 2015-04: An 
Ordinance approving water and sewer billing, termination of service for non-payment, and 
billing adjustments. 
 



 
 

Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to approve  Ordinance 
2015-04: An Ordinance approving water and sewer billing, termination of service for non-
payment, and billing adjustments. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance vote in 
favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to approve  APPLICATION #  RZ 15-03-
04:  Jarvis Robinetta Barnes requests a zoning map amendment for .81 acres of property 
located at 335 Proctor Street from split zoning of CR (Commercial Retail)/R15 (Single 
Family Residential) zoning districts to CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district to allow for 
the construction of a funeral home.  (Tax Parcel Number S03000018000). 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Lewis to open the public hearing. 
Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance vote in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Jarvis Barnes, owner of the property, spoke in favor of the request. Kerry Roberts and Aretha 
Robinson of Len Tenner Court spoke in opposition of the request. Brenda Johnson of Statesboro 
Pointe also spoke against the request. Annie Bellinger of Morris Street spoke against the request. 
Reverend Donald Logan spoke for the request.  Everyone that opposed the request had concerns 
regarding the traffic congestion in the area. Concerns were also expressed as to whether the 
traffic would exit on Morris St., Proctor St., or W. Main St. 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Lewis to close the public hearing. 
Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance vote in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Councilman Lewis made a motion, seconded by Councilman Britt to approve APPLICATION 
#  RZ 15-03-04:  Jarvis Robinetta Barnes requests a zoning map amendment for .81 acres of 
property located at 335 Proctor Street from split zoning of CR (Commercial Retail)/R15 (Single 
Family Residential) zoning districts to CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district to allow for the 
construction of a funeral home.  (Tax Parcel Number S03000018000). The motion also included 
the destruction of a house on the property to increase parking and to include staff 
recommendation of items 1-14. 
 
Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to approve  APPLICATION #  V 15-04-01:  
Rebecca Thigpen, The Jones Company, Real Estate Design & Development Coordinator 
requests a variance from Article X of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance to reduce the rear 
setback from the required 25’ to 10’ in order to meet GDOT front yard entrance 
requirements (Tax Parcel Number S31000014000). 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Britt to open the public hearing. 
Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance vote in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Attorney Steve Rushing, representing the applicant, spoke in favor of the request. He stated some 
of the staff recommendations needed to be omitted. 
No one spoke against this request. 
 



 
 

Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Lewis to close the public hearing. 
Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance vote in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Lewis to approve APPLICATION 
#  V 15-04-01:  Rebecca Thigpen, The Jones Company, Real Estate Design & Development 
Coordinator requests a variance from Article X of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance to reduce the 
rear setback from the required 25’ to 10’ in order to meet GDOT front yard entrance 
requirements (Tax Parcel Number S31000014000). The motion to approve included the attached 
site plan with staff recommendations of item 1, 2c, 3, 5,6,7,8 and 9 as specified. Item 4 will be 
removed. The City of Statesboro will also ask DOT for approval to build sidewalks. The Jones 
Company will pay for all expenses for the sidewalks. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis 
and Chance vote in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2015-11: A Resolution to adopt the 
second amendment to the fiscal year 2015 budget for each fund of the City of Statesboro, 
Georgia, appropriating the amounts shown in each budget as expenditures/expenses, 
adopting the several items of revenue anticipations, and prohibiting expenditures or 
expenses from exceeding the actual funding appropriated. 
 
Councilman Britt made a motion, seconded by Councilman Boyum to approve Resolution 2015-
11: A Resolution to adopt the second amendment to the fiscal year 2015 budget for each fund of 
the City of Statesboro, Georgia, appropriating the amounts shown in each budget as 
expenditures/expenses, adopting the several items of revenue anticipations, and prohibiting 
expenditures or expenses from exceeding the actual funding appropriated. Councilman Britt, 
Boyum, Riggs and Chance vote in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
Councilman Lewis stepped out of the meeting briefly. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to Purchase 8 - 2014 Dodge Chargers, 2 - 2016 Ford Explorers 
and 1 - 2016 Ford Escape for the Statesboro Police Department.  This purchase is included 
as FY 15 CIP # PD - 1 in the amount not to exceed $350,000.00 plus $23,000.00 from the 
budget amendment transferring funds to this CIP Project. 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Boyum to approve the Purchase of 
8 - 2014 Dodge Chargers, 2 - 2016 Ford Explorers and 1 - 2016 Ford Escape for the Statesboro 
Police Department.  This purchase is included as FY 15 CIP # PD - 1 in the amount not to 
exceed $350,000.00 plus $23,000.00 from the budget amendment transferring funds to this CIP 
Project. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance vote in favor of the motion. The 
motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
There was a discussion regarding surplus items as written in Attachment A that went along with 
the, Consideration of a Motion to Purchase 8 - 2014 Dodge Chargers, 2 - 2016 Ford Explorers 
and 1 - 2016 Ford Escape for the Statesboro Police Department.  This purchase is included as FY 
15 CIP # PD - 1 in the amount not to exceed $350,000.00 plus $23,000.00 from the budget 
amendment transferring funds to this CIP Project. 
 



 
 

Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to approve the surplus as 
written in attachment A within the report from the Statesboro Police Department.  Councilman 
Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance vote in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 
vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2015-12: A Resolution requesting 
approval for the Statesboro Police Department to apply for the Bureau of Justice 
Assistance FY 2015 Competitive Grant - Body-Worn Camera Pilot Implementation 
Program.  This grant if awarded would require a 50% match from the City of Statesboro.  
Funding for this match could come from FY 16 CIP # PD – 35 which is proposed at 
$42,063.00 for Body-Worn Cameras. 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to approve Resolution 
2015-12: A Resolution requesting approval for the Statesboro Police Department to apply for the 
Bureau of Justice Assistance FY 2015 Competitive Grant - Body-Worn Camera Pilot 
Implementation Program.  This grant if awarded would require a 50% match from the City of 
Statesboro.  Funding for this match could come from FY 16 CIP # PD – 35 which is proposed at 
$42,063.00 for Body-Worn Cameras. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance vote 
in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a motion to purchase Net Motion Wireless VPN solution from Insight 
Public Sector in the amount of $23,252.20.  This purchase will be funded from the IT 
Service Fund and was originally budgeted for FY 2016 but will now be purchased from the 
2015 budget. 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Lewis to approve the purchase Net 
Motion Wireless VPN solution from Insight Public Sector in the amount of $23,252.20.  This 
purchase will be funded from the IT Service Fund and was originally budgeted for FY 2016 but 
will now be purchased from the 2015 budget. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and 
Chance vote in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 

 
Consideration of a Motion to award a contract for the renovation of the old PD building for 
the expansion of the Municipal Court Room and relocated Municipal Court and 
Information Technology offices to Chris Merrill Construction in the amount not to exceed 
the budgeted amount of $385,000.00. The project will be primarily funded by 2013 
SPLOST. 
 
Councilman Britt made a motion, seconded by Councilman Chance to approve the renovation of 
the old PD building for the expansion of the Municipal Court Room and relocated Municipal 
Court and Information Technology offices to Chris Merrill Construction in the amount not to 
exceed the amount of $420,000.00. Garth Long with the design team stated they would look at 
possible ways to help cut the budget. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance vote 
in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Other Business from City Council:  None 
 
 



 
 

City Managers Comments 
 
Councilman Boyum shared a note from Mrs. Carter thanking the City for helping her with her 
concerns. 
 
Public Comments (General) 

A) Stephanie Ellis request to address Council regarding the proposed Ellis Open 
Air Flea Market to be located on Hwy 80 (Northside Drive East) next to 
University Tire. 

 
Mayor Moore stated that Mr. Ellis withdrew his request until the next Council meeting. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters”   
“Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A.§50-14-3 (2012) 
 
At 7:40 pm, Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Britt to enter into 
Executive Session. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance vote in favor of the 
motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. There was a 10 minute break. 
 
At 9:05 pm, Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Lewis to come out of 
Executive Session. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance vote in favor of the 
motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
Mayor Moore stated there was no action taken in Executive Session. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Lewis to adjourn. Councilman 
Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance vote in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 
vote. 
The meeting was adjourned at 9:05 pm. 
 
 



Fab Lab 
 

A Joint Venture: 
United States Economic Development Administration,  
Georgia Southern University Research and Service 

Foundation, City of Statesboro and Averitt Center for the 
Arts 

 
Presented By: 
Carrie Thorne 



{ 

Business Incubator & 
Fabrication 

Laboratory Plan 
62 East Main Street 

GMP Scope includes: 
• Complete Build-Out as 

shown  
• See “GSU Items” to be 

completed outside of GMP 



Arts Incubator Plan 
58 East Main Street 

First Floor GMP Scope includes: 
• Stairwell modifications 
• ADA Restroom Upgrades 
• ADA Studio 
• Painting in public spaces only 
• Electrical 
 
See “ACA Items” and “GSU Items” to be 
completed outside of GMP 
 

Second Floor GMP Scope includes: 
• Stairwell modifications 
• Structural changes to allow open 

access 
• Complete Restroom 
• All wall construction including 

sheetrock & electrical rough-in 



East Main Street 

62 East Main 

58 East Main 

Smith Street Canopy  
Plan and Elevation 

Exterior GMP Scope includes: 
• Repairing all exterior building 

elements including brick and windows 
• ADA Access 
• Loading dock 
 
See “COS Items” to be completed outside 
of GMP 
 



Items by Stakeholder 
 

These are items with approximate 
costs that have been agreed to be 

covered by each stakeholder group 
outside of GMP costs. 

 
 
 
 
 

Guaranteed Maximum Price 
$836,792. 

 
Add Alternate #: 

Complete Build-Out of Arts 
Incubator as designed. 

 
Add Alternate #: 

Complete Canopy Construction as 
designed.  

























































 
Resolution 2015-14: A RESOLUTION REQUESTING APPROVAL TO EXECUTE 

DOCUMENTS FOR SUBMITTAL OF AN ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
ADMINISTRATION GRANT  FOR PURPOSES OF FABRICATION LABORATORY 

AND INCUBATION CENTER. 
 
 

THAT WHEREAS, the  Economic Development Administration announced the availability 
of grant funding, which may be utilized for as additional funds for the construction and renovation  
of real property to be utilized as the City of Statesboro / Georgia Southern University Fabrication 
Laboratory and Business Innovation Center in accords with Economic Development Activity Grant 
04-79-06832; and  

 
WHEREAS, the necessary application documents for the Economic Development 

Administration have been and are being prepared for submittal and consideration in the grant 
competition process for such a  purpose; and 
 

WHEREAS, the grant application requires certain commitments of matching funds to be 
utilized in the project be made by Georgia Southern University, the Georgia Southern University 
Research Services Foundation, the Averitt Center for the Arts, and/ or  the City of Statesboro as co-
recipients for Economic Development Activity Grant 04-79-06832 and co-applicants for additional 
funding; and 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Statesboro, 

Georgia in regular session assembled this 2nd day of June, 2015 that the submittal of an application 
to the Economic Development Administration of a grant application, as a co-applicant with Georgia 
Southern University and/or the Georgia Southern University Research Services Foundation and the 
Averitt Art Center, is hereby approved; and  

 
BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of Statesboro, Georgia that the City of 

Statesboro hereby commits $______________ of unexpended city dollars as match in said 
application; and 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Mayor of the City of Statesboro shall act as the 

official signatory on behalf of the Mayor and City Council of the City of Statesboro and is hereby 
authorized to execute all documents related to the submittal of such application and any agreements 
entered into by and between the City of Statesboro, Georgia Southern University, and /or the Georgia 
Southern University Research Services Foundation in regard to such submittal to the Economic 
Development Administration as well as documents related to the establishment of the City of 
Statesboro / Georgia Southern University Fabrication Laboratory and Incubation Center that are 
reflective of  and necessitated by this Resolution. 
 

Adopted this June 2, 2015. 
 
 



CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 
 
_______________________________ 
By: Jan J. Moore, Mayor 
 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Attest: Sue Starling, City Clerk 
 

 



RESOLUTION  2015-13: A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING TOURISM PRODUCT 
DEVELOPMENT GRANT APPLICATION 

 
 WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council of the City of Statesboro, Georgia recognize the 
importance of implementing tourism products that contribute to building assets that create 
tourist destinations in the City of Statesboro; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Georgia Department of Economic Development Tourism Division and 
Georgia Council for the Arts have announced the FY2016 Tourism Product Development 
Funding and Application; and  
 

WHEREAS, the City of Statesboro, the Averitt Center for the Arts, Georgia Southern 
University, and the Georgia Southern University Research Foundation are partners in the 
development of the Georgia Southern University, City of Statesboro Fabrication Laboratory and 
Business Incubation Center; and  

 
WHEREAS, an important workforce and tourism component of this project is the Arts 

Incubator; and  
 
WHEREAS, current funding levels are insufficient to complete the build out of the Arts 

Incubator; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Averitt Center for the Arts and the City of Statesboro have entered into a 

Memorandum of Understanding governing the rights and responsibilities of each in regards to 
the grant application and award, if any; and 

 
WHEREAS, the applications will only be accepted from City or County governments, the 

governing body of the City of Statesboro authorizes the filing of a FY2016 Tourism Product 
Development Grant application to the Georgia Department of Economic Development;  

 
WHEREAS, it is the intent of the Averitt Center for the Arts to match the grant;  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY PROCLAIMED by the City Council of the City of 

Statesboro, Georgia that application, on behalf of the Averitt Center for the Arts, be made to the 
Georgia Department of Economic Development in the amount of $15,000 for the FY2016 
Tourism Product Development Grant before the deadline of June 30, 2015. 

 
Adopted this 2nd day of June, 2015. 
 
THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 
 
 
____________________________   _____________________________ 
By:  Jan Moore, Mayor    Attest:  Sue Starling, City Clerk 
    
  
  
  
 



Memorandum of Understanding 
 
 WHEREAS, the Averitt Center for the Arts and the City of Statesboro have come together to 
collaborate and to make an application for the Georgia Department of Economic Development 
(GDED) Tourism Division & Georgia Council for the Arts FY2016 Tourism Product Development 
Agreement; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the partners listed below have agreed to enter into a collaborative agreement in 
which the City of Statesboro will be the lead agency named applicant and the Averitt Center for 
the Arts will be the City’s partner and beneficiary of this application; and  
 

WHEREAS, the partners herein desire to enter into a Memorandum of Understanding 
setting forth the services to be provided by the collaborative; and  

 
WHEREAS, the application prepared and approved by the collaborative through its partners 

is to be submitted to the GDED Tourism Division & Georgia Council for the Arts on or before 
June 30, 2015; and  

 
WHEREAS, the term of this MOU will continue until the final completion of the grant project 

and all financial obligations have been met; and  
 
WHEREAS, the City of Statesboro and the Averitt Center for the Arts have a very positive, 

pro-partnership relationship and have worked together on developing vibrant artistic and cultural 
environments in the City of Statesboro, on creating jobs for the art community and attracting 
tourists and prolonging their stay by providing enhanced cultural experiences, and thus boosting 
positive economic impact.  
 
Roles and Responsibilities 
 

1. The total funding amount awarded by the FY2016 Tourism Product Grant to the City of 
Statesboro will be available for use by the Averitt Center for the Arts for purposes 
represented in the grant application, specifically the build out of the Arts Incubator 
portion of the City of Statesboro and Georgia Southern University Fabrication Laboratory 
and Business Innovation Center.  

2. The Averitt Center for the Arts will execute the project and will provide the City of 
Statesboro will all materials needed for reporting to GDED.  

3. The Averitt Center for the Arts will pay all contractor expenses and will provide the 
required receipts and documentation needed to the City of Statesboro in order for the 
City of Statesboro to file for reimbursement from GDED under the grant guidelines.  

4. The Averitt Center for the Arts will solely provide any and all matches, leverage, or other 
financial obligations of the GDED award.  

5. The Averitt Center for the Arts will be solely responsible for timely and adequately 
meeting all performance requirements of the grant award.  



 
 
By: Averitt Center for the Arts    By: City of Statesboro  
 
 
____________________________   _____________________________ 
Tim Chapman      Mayor Jan J. Moore 
Executive Director 
        
  
   
____________________________   _____________________________ 
Jenny Foss      Attest:  Sue Starling, City Clerk 
Chairman of the Board    
  
  
 









 
RESOLUTION 2015-15:A RESOLUTION REQUESTING APPROVAL TO EXECUTE 

DOCUMENTS FOR SUBMITTAL OF APPLICATION FOR GRANT FUNDING FROM 
THE UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION FOR 

TRANSPORTATION INVESTMENT GENERATING ECONOMIC RECOVERY 
(TIGER) 2015 FUNDING.  

 
THAT WHEREAS, United States Department of Transportation has announced the availability of 

Transportation Investment Generating Economic Recovery grant funding, commonly known as TIGER funds, 
which may be utilized for automobile and pedestrian transportation improvements and associated utility and 
aesthetic improvements; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council for the City of Statesboro has identified Highway 301 South, also 

known as South Main Street, as an important corridor for economic development and quality of life in Statesboro, 
Bulloch County, and the region; and 

 
WHEREAS, the necessary application documents for the United States Department of Transportation have 

been and are being prepared for submittal and consideration in the grant competition process for such purposes; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, the grant application requires certain commitments of matching funds to be utilized in the 
project; and 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Statesboro, Georgia in regular 

session assembled this 2nd day of June, 2015, as the governing body for the City of Statesboro, Georgia, that the 
submittal of an application to the United States Department of Transportation for a TIGER grant application, is 
hereby approved; and  

 
BE IT RESOLVED, that such award of grant funding is conditioned upon execution of a contract between 

the City of Statesboro, Georgia and the United States Department of Transportation; and 
 
BE IT RESOLVED  by the City Council of the City of Statesboro, Georgia that the City of Statesboro 

hereby commits $______________ of unexpended city dollars as match in said application and will reserve such 
funds for contribution to the commitments made in said grant application; and 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Mayor of the City of Statesboro shall act as the official signatory 

on behalf of the Mayor and City Council of the City of Statesboro and is hereby authorized to execute all 
documents related to the submittal of such application or to authorize an appropriate designee for such. 
 

Adopted this June 2,  2015. 
 
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 
_______________________________ 
By: Jan J. Moore, Mayor 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Attest: Sue Starling, City Clerk 



 

Ordinance 2015-06 
 

An Ordinance Amending Chapter Eighteen of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances 
(Temporary Vendors and Transient Merchants) 

 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have determined there if sufficient reason and need to 
amend Chapter 18 of the Code of Ordinance, City of Statesboro, Georgia to promote the 
general welfare of the citizens of Statesboro; 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Statesboro, 
Georgia, in regular session assembled as follows: 
 
Section 1: 
 
Chapter 18 of the Code of Ordinances, City of Statesboro, Georgia is hereby amended by 
adding the following pertaining to temporary vendors and transient merchants, including garage, 
yard, and stall sales and temporary businesses: 
 
ARTICLE X. Temporary Vendors and Transient Merchants 
 
Sec. 18-285. - Definitions. 
As used herein, the following words or phrases shall have the following meaning: 
 
Nonprofit organization means a registered 501(c)(3) non-taxable organization or agency. 
 
Personal property means property which is owned, utilized, and maintained by an individual or 
members of his or her own residence and acquired in the normal course of living or in 
maintaining a residence. It does not include merchandise which was purchased for resale or 
obtained on consignment. 

Temporary business means the sale of goods or services by a person or business being 
operated out of a vehicle, trailer or tent/other similar temporary structure or in the open air for a 
specified period of time. A household selling its personal property at the residential location of 
that household is not a temporary business. 

Tent means a portable shelter consisting of canvas or other material stretched over poles or 
other like devices attached to stakes or anything suggestive of a portable shelter. 

Transient vendor means any person, firm or corporation whether as owner, agent or employee 
that sells, offers or exhibits for sale any goods, wares or services from private premises, but 
remains at one place for a temporary period only. 

 
Sec. 18-286. - Temporary business, temporary vendor  permit required. 
 



 

Any person desiring to operate a temporary business within the City shall be required to obtain 
a Temporary Vendor Permit and shall be subject to all provisions set forth herein. It shall be 
unlawful for any person, agent, servant or employee of any person to engage in, carry on or 
conduct a temporary business without having first obtained a permit as provided herein. 
 
Sec. 18-287. - Garage, yard, or stall sales; temporary vendor permit required. 
 
Any person desiring to sell personal property of every kind and character, not at their own 
residence, shall obtain a Temporary Vendor Permit and shall be subject to all provisions set 
forth herein. It shall be unlawful for any person, agent, servant or employee of any person to 
engage in, carry on or conduct a garage, yard, or stall sale, not at their own residence, without 
having first obtained a permit as provided herein.  All merchandise or items associated with any 
sale shall be removed immediately at the end of the sale. 
 
Sec. 18-288. - Application for temporary vendor permit required. 
Any person required to procure a temporary vendor permit under the provisions of this Article 
shall submit an application for such permit to the City of Statesboro upon a form to be supplied 
by the City. The application shall include, but shall not be limited to the following information:  

 
(a.) Name under which business is to be conducted and the business’s state of 

incorporation; 
(b.)  Name of the applicant;  
(c.)  Permanent residential address of applicant and length of time at such 

address;  
(d.)  Address where business is to be conducted;  
(e.)  Property owner's name, address, telephone number and email address;  
(f.)  Written consent of property owner for the use of the property in the nature of 

that applied for, or his agent and any conditions to lease agreement;  
(g.)  Nature of the business;  
(h.)  Type of merchandise;  
(i.)  Description and number of vehicles and/or tents to be used;  
(j.)  Dates and times within which the temporary business or garage, yard or stall 

sale will be operated;  
(k.)  Name and contact information of the person and/or persons who will be in 

direct charge of conducting the temporary business or garage, yard or stall 
sale. 

(l.) Site plan clearly demonstrating the property; the layout of any temporary 
structures; or parking; toilet facilities; ingress/egress; drive lanes; and any 
other proposed use of area including the division of property into “stalls” or 
other defined areas. 

 
 
Sec. 18-289. - Fees. 
Regulatory fees, administrative fees, and/or application fees for Temporary Vendor Permits 
shall be levied in accordance with the most recently adopted Schedule of Fees or as otherwise 
adopted by the City of Statesboro Mayor and City Council. 
  
Sec. 18-290. - Exemptions. 
The following shall be exempt from the provisions of this Article: 

(a.) Participants in any City or other governmental agency sanctioned event. 



 

(b.) Any nonprofit organization sanctioned event provided that: 

(1.) No sale shall last more than two consecutive days. 
(2.) All merchandise or items associated with any sale shall be removed immediately 

at the end of the sale. 
(3.) No more than two events per property, per year, may be held. 

(c.) Any person desiring to sell personal property of their own and at their own residence 
provided that: 

(1.) No sale shall last more than two consecutive days. 
(2.) No more than two sales of own personal property at each own residence within a 

30-day period; and no more than four times per year total. 
(3.) All merchandise or items associated with any sale shall be removed immediately 

at the end of the sale. 

 
Sec. 18-291. - Transfer of Temporary Vendor Permit. 
A Temporary Vendor Permit issued hereunder shall not be transferable.  
 
Sec. 18-292. - Location. 

(a.) Any Temporary Business which sells its goods or services from more than one location 
within the City shall submit a separate application for each location and pay a separate 
fee for each location.  

 
(b.) Any Business regulated hereunder which moves to another location after the expiration 

of the temporary period shall obtain a new Temporary Vendor Permit from the City and 
pay the required fees for such permit.  

 
(c.) Temporary Vendors may only locate in zones allowing commercial or industrial uses; 

Temporary Vendors and Transient Merchants shall not locate within the right-of-way. 
  
Sec. 18-293. - Regulations. 

(a.) The premises where such Temporary Business is located shall be kept in a clean and 
sanitary condition. 

 
(b.) The Temporary vendor shall have sufficient parking on the premises to provide parking 

for the customers and must not allow parking on the streets or adjoining property. 
Parking plans and ingress/egress plans must be approved by the City Engineer for 
safety. 

 
(c.) The vendor may not sell any goods or services by means of any outcry, sound, speaker 

or amplifier of any kind. 
 

(d.) The Temporary Vendor Permit shall be posted in conspicuous location at the Temporary 
Business site. License shall be shown to any peace officer or agent of the City of 
Statesboro or State of Georgia requesting it. 
 



 

(e.) Any structures or mobile units utilized by the Vendor shall comply with all fire and life 
safety code provisions and any additional requirements established by the authority 
having jurisdiction. 
 

(f.) The vendor shall not be located within any public right of way. 
 

(g.) Any Temporary Vendor or Transient Merchant required to obtain health permits, bonds, 
certificates of qualification, certificates of competency, state licensing, zoning approval, 
fire approval, certificates of occupancy, or other regulatory matter, shall first, before the 
issuance of a Temporary Vendor Permit , show evidence of such qualification. 
 

(h.) Any temporary business operating with a duration of more than two consecutive days 
shall provide proper sanitary facilities consisting of one lavatory with running water for 
each ten thousand square feet of utilized site area. There shall be one or more hose 
connections to an adequate supply of water for each ten thousand square feet of utilized 
area and located so that all parts may be serviced by a hose.  The Building Official shall 
approve such facilities. 

 
Sec. 18-294. - Signs. 
Any signs erected in conjunction with the operation of a Temporary Business must be permitted 
in accordance with Statesboro Zoning Ordinance.  
 
Sec. 19-295. - Penalties for operation without a Temporary Vendor Permit. 
Any Temporary Business or Temporary Vendor which operates within the City without first 
registering with the City and obtaining a Temporary Vendor Permit as provided herein shall be 
charged with violation of this ordinance. Each day any violation of this article shall continue shall 
constitute a separate offense.  
 
Sec. 18-296. - Revocation of a Temporary Vendor Permit. 
 
Any Temporary Vendor Permit issued to conduct a Temporary Business may be revoked by the 
City Clerk due to the failure of the vendor, his agent or employees to comply with the provisions 
herein; fraud, misrepresentation or false statement contained in the application for license; or for 
any violation of any other ordinance of the City or of any state or federal law.  
 
Sec. 18-297. - Duration 
Any Temporary Vendor Permit issued to a Temporary Business shall be valid for the dates 
stated upon the Temporary Vendor Permit or 30 consecutive days, whichever is shorter. 
 
Sec. 18-298. - Limits of issuance.  

(a.) No Temporary Vendor or Transient Merchant shall be issued more than three (3) 
Temporary Vendor Permits per calendar year. 

(b.) No property site shall be issued more than three Temporary Vendor Permits per 
calendar year. 

 
Sec. 18-299 – 305. - Reserved. 
 



 

Section 2. All other sections of the Code of Ordinances, City of Statesboro, Georgia not 
expressly amended here remain in full force and effect. 

Section 3. Should any section, subsection, or provision of this ordinance be rendered invalid by 
a court of competent jurisdiction, then all other sections, subsections, and provisions of this 
ordinance shall remain in full force and effect. 

Section 4. Except as modified herein, City of Statesboro Code of Ordinances, is hereby 
reaffirmed and restated. The codifier is hereby granted editorial license to include this 
amendment in future supplements of said Code by appropriate section, division, article or 
chapter. 

Section 5. This ordinance shall be and remain in full force and effect from and after its adoption 
on two separate readings. 

 
First Reading: June 2, 2015 

Second Reading: June 16, 2015 

 
 
The Mayor and City Council of the City of Statesboro, Georgia 

 

____________________________ 

       By: Jan J. Moore, Mayor 

 

 

____________________________ 

  Attest: Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 



 

1 
 

Ordinance 2015-07 
Article XXX:  Design Standards:  Downtown Incentive District 
Section 3000.  Declaration of legislative intent.  

It is hereby declared to be the intent of this article to establish design and development 
standards for the Downtown Incentive District, herein after called the “District.”  The purpose 
of this Article is to foster and strengthen economic vitality in the City’s District while respecting 
and enhancing the special character of the existing development in the area.   

The District is a compact assembly of storefront buildings, short walkable blocks, mixed uses, 
pedestrian amenities, and consolidated on- and off-street parking as well as single family 
residences, medium density residential developments, and an assortment of residences turned 
boutique commercial uses.  

The District is especially vulnerable to intrusion from incompatible uses and physical 
development practices.  The District is so important and significant to the city, that it justifies a 
special set of regulations designed to protect and enhance its character in light of new 
development.  The potential to impact existing development is much less in other areas of the 
community than in the downtown core area, and hence the regulations outside the District 
area do not merit the same protection.   

The purpose of this Article is to establish requirements for building and site design for new 
developments and for the significant modification of existing developments within the District.  
This Article is intended to protect the existing character of the downtown and encourage 
orderly development in accordance with the comprehensive plan for the City of Statesboro and 
the Downtown Statesboro Master Plan. 

The following principles serve as the foundation for the Article: 

(a) Efficient use of land and services. 
(b) A mix of land uses which strengthen opportunities for economic vitality and support 

pedestrian activity as well as housing opportunities. 
(c) Provide for community gathering places and pedestrian/visitor amenities. 
(d) Maintain and expand a distinct storefront character for commercial properties 

associated with the District, specifically two to four story tall buildings, rectangular 
in mass with traditional design features.  

(e) Provide transitions to adjacent neighborhoods and commercial areas. 
(f) Maintain and enhance the area’s character through design standards. 
(g) Protect the character of existing residential neighborhoods within the District; and 
(h) Promote compatibility between residential and nonresidential adjacent and nearby 

uses. 
 



 

2 
 

Section 3001.  Boundaries. 

The boundaries of the District shall be approved by the Statesboro City Council and 
incorporated into the Official Zoning Map for the City of Statesboro. A copy of the Downtown 
Incentive District boundaries is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference.  

Section 3002. Use Regulations. 

A. A building may be erected, altered, or used, and a lot may be used or occupied for any 
reason permissible by right within the underlying zoning district for the property within 
the District. 

B. Any alteration, change, or modification to any structure or site within the District which 
exceeds 50% of the fair market value of the structure or site as determined by the 
Bulloch County Tax Assessor is subject to the requirements of this Article. 

C. This Article shall not apply to routine maintenance, and repair of a structure or site. 
However; changes to exterior colors shall comply with this article.  

D. Outdoor storage or equipment, materials, or inventory is not permitted except during 
construction. 

E. Chain link and barbed wire fences are prohibited within the District. 

Section 3003.  Historic Buildings or Property. 

A. A Historic District is a geographically definable area, which possesses a significant 
concentration, continuity or linkage of buildings, sites, structures or objects aesthetically 
united by plan, physical development or past events. Districts may also include 
geographically separated individual elements linked by history or association. A Historic 
District will further mean an area designated by the City Council of the City of 
Statesboro pursuant to the criteria set forth in Section 3003 of this Article. 

B. “Building” may be used to refer to a historically and functionally related unit, such as a 
courthouse, jail, house or barn. Parts of buildings, such as interiors, facades, or wings, 
are not eligible independent of the rest of the existing building. The whole building must 
be considered, and its significant features must be identified. If a building has lost any of 
its basic structural elements, it is usually considered a "ruin" and is categorized as a site.  

C. A Historic Property is a structure, site, object, or work of art, including the adjacent area 
necessary for the proper appreciation or use thereof. 

D. Historic Buildings, Historic Properties and Historic Districts are deemed worthy of 
preservation by reason of their value to the City of Statesboro, Bulloch County, the State 
of Georgia, or the region for one or more of the following reasons as determined by the 
Statesboro City Council: 
a. It is an outstanding example of a structure representative of its era; 



 

3 
 

b. It is one of the few remaining examples of a past architectural style; 
c. It is a place or structure associated with an event or person of historic or cultural 

significance to the City of Statesboro, Bulloch County, State of Georgia, or the 
region; 

d. It is a site of natural or aesthetic interest that is continuing to contribute to the 
cultural or historical development and heritage of the City of Statesboro, Bulloch 
County, the State of Georgia or the region;  

e. It is within an existing historic district or is listed with the National Registry of 
Historic Places; or 

f. It is more than fifty (50) years old.  

New additions, exterior alterations, or related new construction on historic buildings or historic 
properties shall not destroy the historic character of the property or the historic materials 
associated with the property.  Any new work shall be compatible with the massing, size, scale, 
and architectural features to protect the historical integrity of the property and its 
environment.  New additions and adjacent or related new construction shall be undertaken in 
such a manner that if removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the historic 
property and its environment would be unimpaired. 

Historic Buildings, Historic Properties and buildings and properties determined eligible for 
national registry shall not be demolished without a finding of necessity by the Statesboro City 
Council, with the exception of non-historic, non-contributing buildings or properties within the 
geographical confines of a historic district. The finding of necessity is based on a finding of 
major structural damage in which the walls, floors, roof, windows or structural elements are 
damaged 35% or more.  

Section 3004.  Height Regulations.  

A. The maximum height of buildings or other structures erected or enlarged in the district 
shall be four stories, not to exceed 48 feet. 

a. Exceptions to Height Regulations.  Not included in maximum height: chimneys, 
bell towers, steeples, roof equipment, flagpoles, and similar features that are not 
intended or used for human occupancy. 

Section 3005.  Regulation of Murals. 

A. A mural is a work of art painted, or otherwise affixed, to the side of a building or 
wall.  

 
 
 



 

4 
 

Murals shall comply with the following standards:  
 

1. Murals shall not contain text, graphics or symbols that 
promote or advertise a service, product or business or 
promote a political party or candidate.  

2. No part of any mural shall extend beyond the building wall or 
freestanding wall on which it is tiled, painted or affixed.  

3. No part of the mural shall extend more than six inches from 
the plane of the wall upon which it is tiled, painted or affixed.  
 

The following forms of Murals are prohibited: 
 

1. Murals that contain elements that change, move, rotate or 
otherwise create a changing message or image.  

2. Murals that use flashing, scrolling or internal lights.  
3. Murals that contain electrical or mechanical components.  

 
Mural Review Criteria 
 
This section establishes the policy and guidelines by which murals will be regulated.  
 

(a) Theme:  
 
a. The content of murals is protected by the laws of free speech.  
b. The mural must comply with O.C.G.A.  § 16-12-80 and O.C.G.A. § 36-60-3. The 

mural must not advertise any activity deemed illegal under the laws of Georgia 
or the United States.  

c. The mural’s theme should respect the greater context of the community.  
 

(b) Location: 
 
a. Murals placed on the front (primary) façade should not comprise more than 25 

percent of the façade.  
 

Section 3006.  Building Orientation. 

(a) Buildings shall have their primary entrance(s) oriented to the primary street and 
sidewalk.  Building entrances may include entrances to individual units, lobby 
entrances, entrances oriented to pedestrian plazas, or breezeway/courtyard 
entrances to a cluster of spaces. 

(b) A building may have an entrance facing a side yard when a direct pedestrian 
walkway is provided between the building entrance and the street right-of-way. 

 



 

5 
 

Section 3007.   Storefront Design. 

A. Storefront Design.  All commercial buildings shall contribute toward the storefront 
character and visual relationships of buildings existing in the district.  The following 
architectural features should be used along the street frontage building elevations, as 
applicable. 

 
(a) Buildings should have consistent spacing of similar shaped windows with trim or 

other decorative molding on all building stories. 
(b) Large display windows should be employed on ground floor storefronts. Display 

windows should be framed to visually separate the ground floor from the second 
floor. 

(c) All buildings with a flat roof should have a decorative cornice at the top of the 
building; or eaves, when the building is designed with a pitched roof. 

(d) Cornices or changes in material can be used to differentiate the ground floor of 
buildings that have commercial uses from the upper floor(s) that may have 
offices or residential uses.  Ground floor facades should utilize cornices, signs, 
awnings, exterior lighting, display windows and entry insets. 

 

Section 3008.  Building and Roofing Materials. 

A. Building Materials.  Building materials shall be similar to the materials used on the 
existing buildings in the Downtown Business District.  Brick and stone masonry are 
considered compatible with wood siding. 
 
(a) In circumstances where similar materials are not proposed, such as a stucco 

building in a row of brick structures, other characteristics such as scale and 
proportion, form, architectural detailing, height, and color and texture shall be 
utilized to ensure that adequate similarity exists for the building to be 
considered compatible. 

(b) Highly reflective materials such as reflective glass shall not be permitted. 
(c) Clear glass windows shall be used for commercial storefront display windows. 
(d) Buildings shall be consistently detailed on all sides.  Windows and doors shall be 

defined with detail elements such as frames, sills, and lintels, and placed to 
visually establish and define the building stories and establish human scale and 
proportion. 

(e) Exposed rough or re-sawn siding and exposed, untreated concrete shall not be 
permitted as a finished exterior.  Metal siding and vinyl siding (except as accent 
materials) are prohibited.   

(f) Accessory structures and buildings should be similar in material and color to the 
primary building on the site.  

(g) If visible from a public street or adjoining residentially zoned property, all 
facades of buildings shall use materials consistent with those used on the front 



 

6 
 

of the building, and should be designed with similar detailing and be comparable 
in quality and materials. 

B. Flat roofs shall incorporate finished parapet walls with three (3) dimension cornice 
treatments designed to conceal the roof and roof mounted mechanical equipment. 

 

Section 3009.  Building Color and Re-roofing. 

A. Recommended color shades shall draw from the range of color shades of structures that 
already exist in the District.  

B. All wood structures and wood trim shall remain painted. 
C. Paint colors are to be chosen to blend and complement the overall scheme of the 

buildings that lie on the street.  Contemporary colors and single colors are to be 
avoided.  The selection of the paint palette should correspond to the architecture of the 
building. 

D. Building trim should be painted a complementary color that is lighter or darker than the 
actual building color.  The goal is to define the trim elements (cornices, storefront, 
window frames, doors, etc.) without overpowering the remainder of the building. 

E. Use one main trim color with an option of a secondary accent color to define the details. 
F. Color must be chosen from the designated scheme set forth above or from those colors 

included in the historic collection of commonly recognized paint lines. 

Section 3010.  Sidewalks and Pedestrian Areas. 

A. Sidewalks and pedestrian areas shall be provided along the public right of way for each 
property. 

B. Sidewalks shall be a minimum of 5’ wide. 
C. Sidewalks shall use decorative paving that is consistent with the designs adopted by the 

City of Statesboro. 
D. Where adequate right of way exists, sidewalks and decorative paving shall be extended 

to create additional space for street crossings, gatherings, or clustering of street 
furniture.  

E. Clearly defined, safe, pedestrian access shall be provided from parking areas and 
adjacent public sidewalks to building entrances. 

F. Continuous internal pedestrian walkways shall be provided from the public sidewalk or 
right of way to the main customer entrance of all principal buildings. 

Section 3011.  Street Furniture and Lighting. 

a. Lighting may be used for the following: 
a. To accent architectural details 



 

7 
 

b. To accent building entrances 
c. To accent signs 
d. To illuminate sidewalks 
e. To accent tree canopy or other landscaping  

b. Exterior lighting shall have a low level of luminescence that casts a color similar to day 
time light and should not interfere with the adjacent property or automobile traffic. 

c. Lighting standards shall meet those required by the Safe By Design Program of the City 
of Statesboro and must include parking areas.  

Section 3012.  Landscaping. 

A. All properties shall adhere to the provisions of the City of Statesboro’s Urban Forest 
Beautification and Conservation Ordinance.  Tree canopy placement within the District 
shall be as follows: 

a. Locate street trees along edges of sidewalks, maintain a clearly defined 
pedestrian travel zone; 

b. Locate street trees in larger planting areas, such as buffer strips adjacent to 
parking lots; 

c. Locate trees within parking areas; 
d. Install new trees where walkway widths permit; and/or 
e. Replace trees that are diseased or have passed their life cycle. 

B. Street buffer yards.  In addition to the landscaping and buffering requirements, parking 
lots shall be buffered from streets and rights of way by a landscaped strip or planter 
with a minimum width of five (5’) feet between the parking lot and the public space. An 
administrative variance may be issued in cases of hardship.  

C. Parking areas must be landscaped. 
D. Foundation landscaping along fifty (50) percent of the building length is required for 

each building on the property. 
E. In order to protect significant trees within the District, the following shall apply to any 

tree on the property that is greater than 20 inches in diameter (which shall be known as 
a historic tree) and to any tree that is greater than 30 inches in diameter that is located 
within any required setback or buffer area, which shall be known as a historic tree: 

a. A heritage tree which is removed shall be replaced with a minimum of two four-
inch caliper shade trees. 

b. A historic tree which is removed shall be replaced with a minimum of four four-
inch caliper shade trees. 

c. New trees used to comply with heritage and historic tree replacement 
requirements shall not count toward required tree points under Chapter 86. 



 

8 
 

d. No construction, grading, equipment, or material storage, or any other activity 
shall be allowed within the critical root zone of a heritage or historic tree unless 
the steps taken adequately ensure the tree’s health. 

e. Heritage or historic trees shall not be cut, removed, pushed over, killed, harmed, 
trimmed, sprayed, or destroyed without written approval of the City of 
Statesboro. 

F. Landscaped areas, including buffer and screening areas, shall be maintained in good 
condition and kept free of dead plants, weeds, or debris.   

G. All planting areas shall be protected from vehicle damage by the installation of curbing 
or other methods approved by the administrator.  Alternative barrier designs which 
provide improved infiltration, storage or stormwater are strongly encouraged. 

H. The plant materials used in and around parking lots and adjacent to street rights of way 
and pedestrian ways shall be designed to assure visibility at intersections and safety of 
pedestrians.  Therefore, shrubs shall not exceed two (2) feet in height at maturity, and 
trees are to be pruned to at least six (6) feet above ground.  

I. All planting areas shall be stabilized with ground covers, mulches, or other approved 
materials to prevent soil erosion and to allow rainwater infiltration.  Rubber mulch is not 
acceptable. 

J. Grassed areas shall be finished with sod. 
K. In order to provide additional safety measures to the site through environmental design 

clear visibility shall be maintained from the building to the street, parking areas, 
pedestrian walkways, and passing vehicles. 

Section 3013.  Buffering and Screening Requirements. 

A. Buffer and/or screenings are required in order to reduce the impact of a use of land on 
adjacent uses that are of a significantly different character, density, or intensity.  The 
width of the buffer yard shall be the same as the setback requirement in the applicable 
zoning district and all screening materials shall be located within the required yard.  A 
buffer yard may only be occupied by permitted landscaping and screening materials, 
underground utilities, and storm water retention areas.  Buffer yards and screening shall 
be required in addition to any other landscaping requirement listed in this section. 

B. The following items are permitted for use as buffering materials.  
a. Evergreen buffer vegetation included in the acceptable evergreen list meeting a 

minimum height of six (6) feet.  
b. Masonry walls measuring at least six (6) feet in height, but no more than eight 

(8) feet in height.  Natural and painted concrete block walls are not permitted. 



 

9 
 

c. A solid wood fence measuring at least six (6) feet in height, but not more than 
eight (8) feet. If wood is used, only treated or rot resistant wood is acceptable. 
Chain-link, barbed wire, stock wire and similar type fences are not permitted.  

d. Vinyl fences at least six (6) feet in height but no more than eight (8) feet are 
permitted.  

e. With the approval of the Zoning Administrator, a developer may use any 
combination of the screening materials that meet the intent of this Article.  

Section 3014.  Off Street Parking. 

A. Off street parking shall be provided in conformance with Article XVI and shall be curbed 
and guttered along the right of way. 

B. For new development projects or if more than ten (10) spaces are provided in a 
renovation, then no more than 25% of off street parking may be provided in the front of 
the building.  The remaining shall be to the side or rear of buildings. 

C. Shared parking is encouraged and applied pursuant to Article VXI. 
D. Where a parking lot abuts a public sidewalk, a landscaped strip, or planter with a 

minimum width of five (5) feet utilizing a combination of trees, shrubs, and flowers shall 
be provided. 

E. Parking lots containing forty (40) or more spaces shall be divided into discrete areas not 
exceeding thirty (30) parking spaces.  An internal path or sidewalk located within 
landscaped areas between, and connecting the parking pods is required where there are 
more than three pods or the configuration of the pods makes it difficult for pedestrian 
to access the buildings. 

F. Existing front parking lots may be utilized but will be required to provide landscape 
buffer and sidewalk.  

Section 3015.  Signage. 

A. All property within the District shall be subject to the regulations for Sign District 3 
within Article XV of this Ordinance. 

B. No electronic message boards shall be within the district. 
C. Signs within the District shall lose their nonconforming status is they are out of service 

for twelve (12) months or more. 
D. The color palette for the District applies to signage in the District. 
E. Projection signs from buildings may be allowed at no more than one (1) square foot of 

sign area for each liner foot of building footage on that façade.  

 

 



 

10 
 

Section 3016.  Mechanical, Electrical, Utility, and Sanitation Equipment. 

a. Utility service boxes, telecommunication devices, sanitation areas, mechanical 
equipment, and other such service areas shall be placed away from major 
pedestrian or automobile routes and screened from view in accordance with City 
of Statesboro specifications for such. 

b. Mechanical equipment and service areas shall be designed and located to 
minimize visual impact. 

c. Utilities shall be buried within rights of way or easements as approved by the 
City of Statesboro. 

Section 3017.  Variances. 

A. Variances from this Article shall proceed under Article XVIII except for landscaping 
issues, which shall proceed as variances from Chapter 86 of Statesboro City ordinances.  



 



 

Purchasing 

 

Memo 
TO:  Robert Cheshire, City Manager 
  
FROM: Darren Prather, Purchasing Director 
 
DATE: 5-27-2015 
 
Re:   Recommendation—RFP- Installation of Radio Transmitting Meters 
The City of Statesboro issued a request for proposals (RFP) for the installation of water and natural gas radio transmitting meters (CIP 
#WWD112 and #NGD-60). This contract is for installation only as the City of Statesboro has purchased and will supply the meters for 
this project. These meters will allow for radio transmission of meter readings back to a home base and will allow for instant customer 
account information if needed. The Natural Gas portion of this project will be funded by the 2013 SPLOST with the Water portion to 
be funded by 2007 SPLOST funds. This project will involve replacing 4350 water meters, 2,700 retro-setters and installing 9,300 
single/dual port AMR transmitters. On the Natural Gas portion of this project, 1,200 residential gas meters with AMR will be installed 
along with 300 retro-fit AMR transmitters and the installation of 424 AMR transmitters on existing larger meters. In addition to the 
previously mentioned equipment being installed, the vendor will also perform data transfer and equipment documentation services as 
well. Due to the highly technical aspect of this project, we had a mandatory pre-bid and four (4) companies attended. We received two 
(2) RFP submittals that were evaluated by a six person committee using five evaluation criteria (Executive summary, Corporate 
overview, Project management team, required submittals and Cost) making up a total of a 100 point scale. The ratings are as follows: 
  Vendor     Score Avg. 
 

1. Utility Solutions of America   71.66/100 Points 
2. Utility and Water Services   80.50/100 Points 
3. Advanced Utility Services   No Submittal 
4. Utility Services Associates   No Submittal 

 
Cost Summaries: 
 

 Vendor    Base Bid  Alt.   Total 
1. Utility Solutions of America  $569,695.00 $243,000.00 $812,695.00 
2. Utility and Water Services  $416,027.50 $168,750.00 $584,777.50 

(After the RFP was sent out, it was discovered that an additional 620 meters will be replaced at an installation cost of $22.50 per meter 
for a total of $13,950.00. This amount will need to be added to the bid award amount and is based on a per-unit pricing listed in the 
sealed proposal.) 
 
Note: The alternate amount will re-program the meters to align them with our new utility billing software to be installed in 
approximately 6-9 months. However, the Water and Sewer Department inquired as to avoid a significant amount of this re-
programming fee ($168,750.00) by working with Sensus to utilize newly installed software that will allow the meters to be 
programmed only once thereby saving a large portion (about 75% or approximately $128,750.00)) due to elimination of the 
remobilization otherwise needed in 6-9 months. This software will measure water on a per gallon basis, but will convert the reading to 
our current per 1,000 gallon basis until the new utility billing software in installed. At that point, the per-gallon method will take over.  
 
 The amount remaining for this project is $1,422,034.54 for equipment and installation labor for this project. This amount is comprised 
of $343,534.54 carried over from last fiscal year (2014) in Water Sewer coupled with $400,000 (CIP # WWD-112) for a total of 
$743,534.54 for Water Sewer. Natural Gas provides the balance of this total with the amount of $678,500.00 (CIP # NG-60).  The bid 
amounts above represent the labor only as some of the remaining funds will be spent on the equipment involved in this project. The 
recommended bid award amount includes the added installation for 620 additional meters at a cost of $13,950.00 (added to the initial 
bid amount of $584,777.50. In our final recommendation, we are recommending the maximum amount of $598,727.50, but the final 
amount is expected to be significantly less due to the elimination of a second re-programing trip for the meters. 
 



We recommend the meter installation contract be awarded to Utility and Water Services in the amount of $598,727.50 as they have 
met all of the required specifications and were the top-rated submittal by the evaluation committee.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







City of Statesboro Volunteer Advisory Board Application

__ Planning Commission

Beautification Commission

/
~Tree Board

(insert name)

Name--@/Mrs./Ms.(Circle) ~.!...; !...!.11.:...c; c..:::..:' ""'~_...:.:E:....:.~~(-,6_;_'-,1)~--LVJ-'--~"";"<-:;1-1 _,,_t- _

(/0 -=::, Krc -'\.s ;25>+Ov-..
State: GA

Residence-Street Address:
City: ,»+-,:.-+-(1 ~ ho.~v ZiP Code: ---="'o:.·~.:...o..:.:'t~=-5'...,,8~ _

Mailing address (if different from residence): N_A...:...- _

City: State: _ Zip Code: _

Home phone: Business phone: l111- 't 8'1 -y 'if~ell phone: 11.2.- - S-.~I- asS 7
E-mail address:~ia;~/I~~~~~c~~~~¥I.:...~~~~.~·~~~~~":.:...I~.~(~~_~~ _

Additional information- do you live inside the city limits of Statesboro? ----+7...::c{'S=-------
If yes, how long? b' yeOl"- ...)"

/

Are you an active registered voter in the Statesboro district? _.......-ry...=e=.-> _
/

What is your occupation? .s~"l7v~ L ,',... .s~"""'vi·c.e..r - Ass~
Employer: .Ge.lJ~';£-' L;o/,'y JIYI(l,~";f'1q.",+ 'IV'c..-
Address: .:2.03 po~I...~t.!..:s±.

,3f-z;,'~('"5 bo>c . b,"1 ~s0 It S f{

Related experience-what prior work experience have you had that would help you if you were

appointed to this position? 'j 'ji t1,....-£ Sv< e~rv;J0,,". ,
crt.w - A:5' 10-,5 +'''1 I (;A
11..r~.r'5 i'l-""":J;:? .2~/'l:';yo' C"'j ~tI-'''''''''''';~~E') [..I; rl...
flI~,\ I'"'J ~ ...Jv-I~ pr.?j<L.t V'-""'OJ ••.•..•...•.+ e'tF-'" e~( '(

Page 1 of 3



Briefly describe your present or past involvement in relevant community groups, Having no previous

involvement will not disqualify you for appointment, 'frsr pre ,)"~"'\ ~ (A"'{,l bct-rr.A ~eNlbf!_

o,f /Vle-+le.r 6A 'Koh.r d •.6. Cu-I"re/lf ,IY>.","""L,~ S \. e•..r. 1J 6~ •..• +Ow",

..s~h>b,y"- f(o,t.v.",.b " ()VJ 1"wY' fi5So( :t--+'u'1.. -
1'>U\5V1t"e..r (q 7 c> ......5)

Have you ever served on a City or County advisory board? _--"N~D~ _
If yes, when and which board(s): _

Do you serve on any other boards or advisory committees in Georgia, or are you an elected or appointed

state, county or municipal office holder, or employee: --!.N~D _
If yes, please name the board, position, etc. _

Availability-Are you available to attend special meetings, study sessions, or committee meetings in

addition to the regularly scheduled meetings? Do you prefer day or evening meetings? 'je.s.
Fve/l') Vhe~+;").5 c-."..~ beJ t &.J )C-7 ove ok I

Page 2 of 3



Write a statement as to why you wish to serve on this Volunteer Advisory Board and what experience

or training that you have that would be beneficial to this board. Use the back side of this application or
attach a statement or resume if desired. ~tQ'> L,-I; ;-.5 c;.. 5'e-(/o. f- ~w"". I Jt"eW

(At here tjt'\,L Ylo"" VJ(yk_ 4/'<-.. (,VI ~ 7 w:fe 0.')) 1 c.L,:,~~, I
He, •..•.+- ..)0 c..rJi.., '" '<- ~ hQ. cr. ;,:'e..>t- f If'( e..- ,-h, I, ve. '-vwk
0. voll"s<2..;;.. o/(.> {I~ '<..Is·; ;'"", u;/~V/1'r I

,~ o; :J rel /:K ~ --h, ~v~ cn-, ¥«-
.+-~~ j,,,:..ru ..:s.tr.Je) lacY') ..bee <I~e) 6'1" tvw. ,nv.--e-

~",~~~I devdcfY>-d= ~t e"t o""-CZys -+r~

Are you willing to commit to a four year term? _---,~p'k~-s:::..'----------------

Signature Date
I I

Page 3 of 3



RESOLUTION 2015-16: A RESOLUTION APPOINTING BILL WRIGHT TO THE TREE BOARD OF THE 
CITY OF STATESBORO 

 
WHEREAS, Section 76 of Division 3 of the Tree Ordinance of Statesboro, GA provides, in 
relevant part, that “the Tree Board for the City of Statesboro shall consist of nine members who 
shall be appointed by the Mayor, a Council Member or the City Manager with the approval of 
City Council, with consideration for expertise in the areas of administration, urban forestry, 
conservation, preservation of environmental attributes, horticulture, landscaping, and 
commercial or private construction.” 
 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council desire to exercise the appointment power provided 
above; 
 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council agree and affirm that Bill Wright has the background 
and character that would be helpful to the Tree Board of the City of Statesboro in discharging its 
responsibilities; 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Statesboro, 
Georgia, as follows: 
 
Section 1. That Bill Wright is hereby appointed to the Tree Board of the City of Statesboro, 
Georgia for the term on the Tree Board lasting three years.  
 
Section 2. That this resolution shall be and remain effective from and after its date of adoption.  
 
 
Adopted this 2nd day of June, 2015. 
 
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 
____________________________________  
By: Jan J. Moore, Mayor 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Attest: Sue Starling, City Clerk 



#

#
Hill Street

Public Works

E OLLIFF ST

E NORTHSIDE DR

N Z
ET

TE
RO

WE
R A

V

HILL ST

TU
RN

ER
 ST

N M
UL

BE
RR

Y S
T

WOODROW AV

BRASWELL ST

DA
VIS

 ST

JENNINGS DR

GROOVER LN

WOODROW CIR

OR
AN

GE
 ST

MORRIS CIR

N G
OR

DO
N 

ST

CONE HOMES

BE
ST

 ST
MULBERRY CT

HILL ST

HILL ST

Source: Esri, DigitalGlobe, GeoEye, i-cubed, Earthstar Geographics,
CNES/Airbus DS, USDA, USGS, AEX, Getmapping, Aerogrid, IGN, IGP,
swisstopo, and the GIS User Community

0 250 500 750 1,000
Feet ¯

Fiber Optic Route 2






	06-02-2015 Council Agenda
	05-19-2015 Council minutes
	06-2015 Presentation Fab Lab
	Fab Lab��A Joint Venture:�United States Economic Development Administration, �Georgia Southern University Research and Service Foundation, City of Statesboro and Averitt Center for the Arts��Presented By:�Carrie Thorne
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6

	06-2015 Intergovernmental agreement-Bd of Regents (1)
	06-2015 Intergovernmental agreement-Bd of Regents (2)
	06-2015-14 Grant Resolution Fab Lab
	06-2015-13 Resolution Grant Application Resolution $15,000.00
	06-2015 Memorandum of Understanding Arts Center
	06-2015 ALCOHOL VIOLATIONS
	06-2015-15 Resolution Grant  June 2015 (3)
	06-2015 -06 Temporary Vendor Ordinance (1)
	06-2015-07 Ordinance Design Standards Article XXX
	06-2015-07 Ordinance Incentive distrit map
	06-2015- RFP Meter Install (3)
	06-2015 water meter sole source
	06-2015-16 Bill Wright - Tree Board Application (1) (1)
	06-2015-16 Resolution Tree Board Appointment Bill Wright
	06-2015 Map conduit extension
	06-2015 Alcohol notification ECKERD AND R J STEAKERY

